

**Early Miocene remains of *Melissiodon* from Mokr -Quarry
(Moravia, Czech Republic) shed light on the evolutionary
history of the rare cricetid genus**

Isaac Bonilla-Salom  ¹, Stanislav  erm  k²,   ngel H. Luj  n^{3,4}, S  lvia Jovells-Vaqu  ^{1,3},
Martin Ivanov⁴, Martin Sabol¹

¹ Department of Geology and Paleontology, Faculty of Natural Science, Comenius
University, Bratislava, Slovak Republic

² Institute of Geology of the Czech Academy of Sciences, Prague, Czech Republic.

³ Institut Catal   de Paleontologia Miquel Crusafont, Universitat Aut  noma de
Barcelona, Cerdanyola del Vall  s, Spain

⁴ Department of Geological Sciences, Faculty of Science, Masaryk University, Brno,
Czech Republic

* Corresponding Authors:

Isaac Bonilla-Salom  n¹

Ilkovi  ova Str. 6, Bratislava, SK-84215, Slovak Republic

E-mail address: salomon1@uniba.sk

  ngel H. Luj  n^{3,4}

Edifici ICTA-ICP, c/ Columnes s/n, Campus de la UAB, 08193 Cerdanyola del Vall  s,
Spain

Email address: angel.lujan@icp.cat

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Not Superscript/ Subscript

Formatted: Line spacing: Double

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: Font: Times New Roman, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Abstract

Background. *Melissiodon* is a rare cricetid genus endemic to Europe, known from the early Oligocene to the early Miocene. It is usually a very rare find, and even in the few localities where *Melissiodon* remains are found, those are scarce and fragmented. Only a few Central European localities have yielded rich remains of the genus. Currently, two species are known from the early Miocene: *Melissiodon schlosseri*, which is based on two teeth from the MN2 German locality of Haslach and only found in two other sites of similar age (Ulm-Uniklinik and La Chaux, from Germany and Switzerland respectively); and *Melissiodon dominans*, found in MN3 and MN4 localities across Europe, even though the scarce and fragmentary remains make some of these attributions dubious. For that reason, *Melissiodon dominans* has become a catch-all species. However, Mokrá-Quarry represents one of the best documented findings of *Melissiodon* remains from MN4 localities of Europe.

Deleted: g

Methods. The *Melissiodon* assemblage from Mokrá-Quarry has been studied thoroughly, providing metrics and detailed descriptions of all teeth positions, as well as complete comparisons with other MN3 and MN4 localities bearing *Melissiodon* remains.

Deleted: in

Results. In this work, new remains of *Melissiodon* have been identified as a new morphotype that clearly differs from *Melissiodon dominans* by its unique m1 morphology but still shows some resemblance with *Melissiodon schlosseri*. Based on that, we here propose the hypothesis of an evolutionary line starting from *Melissiodon schlosseri*, diverging from the lineage leading towards *Melissiodon dominans*. With this finding, there are at least two different taxa of *Melissiodon* known during the latest early Miocene, prior to the genus extinction. This study arises the certainty that the evolution

54 history of the genus is more complex than previously thought and that more studies are
55 necessary to elucidate the evolutionary history of the genus, including a complete
56 revision of the type material of *Melissiodon dominans* and *Melissiodon schlosseri* in the
57 light of current knowledge of the genus, which will help to elucidate the attribution of
58 the populations from Mokrá-Quarry. For the time being, the assemblage presented here
59 is referred as *Melissiodon* aff. *schlosseri*.

Deleted: *dominans*

61 **Subjects** Vertebrate Paleontology, Taxonomy

Formatted: English (United States)

62 **Keywords** Melissiodontinae, *Melissiodon schlosseri*, *Melissiodon dominans*,
63 Burdigalian, Carpathian Foredeep Basin, Moravian Karst.

65 Introduction

66 The extinct genus *Melissiodon*, originally described by Schaub, 1920 is a rare fossil
67 cricetid that ranged from the early Oligocene (MP23) to the early Miocene of Europe
68 (MN4). However, more recent research on the biostratigraphy in the Vallès-Penedès
69 Basin (Catalonia, Spain) date the Miocene site of Sant Mamet, from which *Melissiodon*
70 remains were recovered (Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar 2018), to the beginning of
71 the MN5 (Jovells-Vaqué 2020; Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar 2021). To date,
72 *Melissiodon* includes nine species (Hrubesch 1957; Mödden 1999). Its genus name,
73 meaning “honeycomb tooth”, refers to its peculiar molar morphology, which is
74 characterized by slender crests enclosing numerous pits. In the few European localities
75 where this genus has been recovered, the remains are very scarce and mostly
76 fragmentary. According to de Bruijn et al. (2013), outside of Europe *Melissiodon* sp. is
77 only known from the Anatolian assemblage of Kargi-2, latest Oligocene-earliest

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: ,

Moved down [1]: Though Schaub (1920) pointed out that the clade deserved a family rank, it was not until five years later that its formal definition as family level (i.e. Melissiodontidae) was published (Schaub 1925).

Deleted: (

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: 1,

Deleted: which is

87 Miocene in age), although only a complete M3 and a fragmented m1 have been
 88 reported.

89 Over the Oligocene, up to six different species of *Melissiodon* are recognized in
 90 Europe (Schaub 1920, 1925; Freudenthal 1941; Hrubesch 1957). The most extensive
 91 work regarding the genus *Melissiodon* during this epoch was carried by Hrubesch
 92 (1957), who reviewed most of the available material of the genus and erected three new
 93 taxa: two new species and one subspecies. During the Oligocene, *Melissiodon* was
 94 much more diverse than it was during the early Miocene, including four different
 95 lineages (see Hrubesch 1957).

96 Regarding the Miocene, only two species, *Melissiodon schlosseri* and *M. dominans*,
 97 have been identified, *Melissiodon schlosseri*, the type species of the genus, was
 98 established long ago by Schaub (1925) based on two lower molars (i.e., m1 and m3)
 99 from Haslach (Germany, MN2). Later, Hrubesch (1957) suggested that an m3 from La
 100 Chaux (Swiss Molasse Basin, MN2) could belong to the same species. Moreover,
 101 Werner (1994) and Engesser & Mödden (1997) identified very small assemblages
 102 belonging to *M. aff. schlosseri* from MN2 localities of Ulm-Uniklinik and La Chaux 7:
 103 Germany and Switzerland respectively. In fact, only a faunal list was published from the
 104 second site.

105 The second species, *Melissiodon dominans*, was erected by Dehm (1950) from a rich
 106 collection from the fissure filling of Wintershof-West (Germany, MN3). This
 107 exceptional assemblage constitutes one of the largest collections recovered of the taxa,
 108 including: 40 M1, 36 M2, 8 M3, 36 m1, 39 m2 and 30 m3. Shortly after, it was studied
 109 in detail by Hrubesch (1957), who assessed the intraspecific variation of the species
 110 from this locality, as well as other German MN3 sites (i.e., Wintershof-Ost, Wüterich,
 111 and Schnaitheim), which were not as rich as the type locality. In the slightly younger

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: .

Deleted: Because of many studies hesitated to include *Melissiodon* into the family Muridae (e.g., Freudenthal et al. 1992; Kristkoiz 1992), based on aberrant features in the skull and its derived morphology of the cheek teeth, this genus was the only member of the subfamily Melissiodontinae for most of the last century. That was until Ünay-Bayraktar (1989) erected the genus *Edirnella* based on a few isolated upper cheek teeth from the middle Oligocene (MP25) locality of Kocayarma (Thrace Basin, Turkey). This genus was accommodated into the subfamily Melissiodontinae mainly by share with *Melissiodon* of a cusp between the anterocone complex and the protocone (protostyle in this work, following Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar 2018). In the same publication, Ünay-Bayraktar grouped both subfamilies (i.e. Melissiodontinae; with *Melissiodon* and *Edirnella*; and Paracricetodontinae, with *Paracricetodon* and *Trakymys*) under family Melissiodontidae, which was strongly criticised and not followed by subsequent works (e.g., Freudenthal et al. 1992; Kristkoiz 1992; Kalthoff 2006). More recently, new remains from the late Eocene deposits of Süngülü (Lesser Caucasus, Turkey) were referred to *Edirnella* and included in the subfamily Melissiodontinae (see de Bruijn et al. 2003). The third genus belonging in the subfamily Melissiodontinae, *Mogilia* Wessels et al., 2018, contains two species of the Eocene-Oligocene of Serbia: *M. miloshi* and *M. lautus*.¶ The subfamily Cricetopsinae was originally established by de Buijn & Koenigswald (1994), but McKenna & Bell (1997) corrected it to Cricetopinae (terminology followed in this paper). As for the phylogeny, Maridet & Ni (2013) recovered *Melissiodon* into this subfamily, being *Melissiodon* the sister of *Selenomys*, and the two would constitute the sister group of *Mirabella*: the monophyletic group including the former three genera was called *Melissiodon* clade. Maridet & Ni (2013) included other genera into Cricetopinae (e.g., *Cricetops*, *Meteamys*, and *Selenomys*), however, the most remarkable relocation was that *Edirnella* was recovered into subfamily Pseudocricetodontinae, and consequently, more tightly related to the genera *Pseudocricetodon*, *Adlomyarion* and *Rericricetodon*. This proposal was not followed by ...

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: all authors recognized several species

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: during the Oligocene

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: ,

Deleted: whereas

Deleted: during the early Miocene

Deleted: species

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: , St. Vincent

locality of Schnaitheim, significantly larger remains than the type population (i.e., Wintershof-West) were found and referred to *M. dominans*. Remains of this species have also been found in other European MN3 localities, including: Austria (Mein 1989); Switzerland (Bolliger 1992); Spain (Crusafont et al. 1955; Agustí 1981; Sesé 1987; Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar 2018); and France (Aguilar et al. 2003; Bulot et al. 2009). As for the Czech Republic, the only record of *M. dominans* comes from the MN3 site of Ahnřkov I, so far published without detailed description (see Fejřar et al. 2003 for details).

Regarding the MN4, very few sites have been found with the level of richness as the MN3 localities. Despite this, some sites yielding *Melissiodon dominans* remains have been identified. Ziegler & Fahlbusch (1986) described *Melissiodon* material from the Upper Freshwater Molasse sites (Germany; Rembach and Fortshart), which despite showing differences in size and morphology, were attributed to *M. dominans*. The same authors also studied remains of the much richer sites of Erkertshofen 1 and Petersbuch 2, but no figures of the remains were provided. Mein & Freudenthal (1981) and Bulot et al. (2009) described scarce remains of *Melissiodon* from the French sites of Vieux-Collonges (Rhône) and Beón 2 (Montreal du Gers). Similarly, the Spanish sites of Montalvos 2 (Hordijk et al. 2015), Barranc de Campisano and Mas d'Antolino (Crespo 2017), and Sant Mamet (Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar 2018) have also yielded scant elements referred to *M. dominans*. Regarding Czech sites, Fejřar (1990) published measurements and drawings of some upper and lower first molars from the early Miocene localities of Dolnice 1, 2, 3 and Ořechov, although no descriptions or data regarding the rest of the molars were provided. Mokrá-Quarry (early Miocene, MN4), a karstic site located close to Brno (Moravia, Czech Republic; Figure 1), constitutes the latest fossil site from which *Melissiodon* remains have been recovered (see Ivanov et al.

Deleted: remains

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: German

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: i.e

Deleted: ..

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: published

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: T

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: ascribed

Deleted: n

Deleted: as

Formatted: English (United States)

2006 for a detailed geological setting; Bonilla-Salomón et al. 2021a for a discussion on its age based on the small mammal association). The genus *Melissiodon* has been identified in 1/2001 Turtle Joint, 2/2003 Reptile Joint from the Western Quarry (hereinafter MWQ 1/2001 and MWQ 2/2003, respectively); and 3/2005 from the Central one (MCQ 3/2005 from here after). At the species level, a small association of *M. dominans* from MWQ 1/2001 has been published by Bonilla-Salomón et al. (2021a).

However, *Melissiodon dominans* has become a "waste-basket". Most of the remains found in Europe in MN3 and MN4 localities are referred to this species, despite its attribution being dubious due to the scarcity of remains in most assemblages. The species shows a set of morphological characters that varies significantly between localities (for instance, populations from Forsthart and Rembach compared with the type population), but also in the slightly younger localities (in most MN4 sites *Melissiodon dominans* remains are notably smaller than the type population; see remarks section below for a complete discussion). In that sense, several authors have identified populations which can be referred to different forms of *Melissiodon*, but the scarcity of the remains prevented them to erect a new species (see Mein & Freudenthal 1981; Bulot et al. 2009).

The assemblage from Mokrá-Quarry is exceptional, since it constitutes one of the best documented findings of the genus among MN4 localities. In this work, we describe all available material of *Melissiodon* aff. *schlosseri* from two karst fissures from Mokrá-Quarry (i.e., MWQ 2/2003 and MCQ 3/2005), and the morphological differences between MN3 and MN4 European assemblages are assessed. Moreover, the evolution of the genus during the early Miocene is discussed and new hypotheses are proposed.

Material & methods

Deleted: recently

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: for

Deleted: m

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Deleted: identified

Deleted: as

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: more

Deleted: ly

Deleted: dominans

Formatted: English (United States)

276 The micromammal fauna from MWQ 2/2003 and MCQ 3/2005 was discovered
 277 during the field campaigns lead by M. Ivanov and R. Musil from the Masaryk
 278 University (Brno, Czech Republic) during the years 2002–2005. Fossil remains, mixed
 279 in sand and clays, were obtained by washing in sieves of 0.5 mm mesh (Ivanov et al.
 280 2006). Field campaigns were approved by the Masaryk University under the project
 281 number: MUNI/31 8016 (“Systematic survey of sediments of karst fissures in the area
 282 of the Mokrá Quarry”). The material is currently housed in the collections of the
 283 Department of Geological Sciences (Faculty of Science, Masaryk University) under the
 284 inventory numbers SMM/009-09-11/ 372009, Pal. 3000–3910. Upper cheek teeth are
 285 indicated by upper case letters (M1, M2, M3), whereas lower cheek teeth by lower case
 286 (m1, m2, m3). Dental terminology follows Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar (2018),
 287 with some modifications (Figure 2). Additional crests and cristids are named based on
 288 their position relative to the main cusp or cuspid from which they run (e.g., anterior
 289 labial arm of entoconid).
 290 Measurements were taken with the Carl Zeiss Stemi 305 microscope and the Carl
 291 Zeiss W-PI 10x/23 Microscope Focusable Eyepiece, providing cheek teeth occlusal
 292 surface maximum length and width ($L \times W$). All measured data are given in millimeters
 293 (mm). Micrographs were taking using the Quanta FEG 250 Scanning Electron
 294 Microscope (SEM) at the Institute of Electrical Engineering of the Slovak Academy of
 295 Sciences (SAS) in Bratislava (Slovakia). All teeth are figured as left elements.
 296 Miocene time scale and biostratigraphy is based on International Chronostratigraphic
 297 Chart (Cohen et al. 2020), Central and Eastern Paratethys boundaries follow Gozhyk et
 298 al. (2015) and Kováč et al. (2018); MN-zonations for Western (left) and Central (right)
 299 Europe follow Steininger (1999) and Hilgen et al. (2012). Age and chronological
 300 position of the localities mentioned in the text and figures are based on works of

Deleted: ed

Deleted: The

Deleted: f

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: and

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: its

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: posterior

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: mesocone

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: r

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: modified

310 Bolliger (1992); Steininger (1999); Bulot & Ginsburg (1996); Aguilar et al. (2003);
311 Bulot et al. (2009); Reichenbacher et al. (2013); Ruiz-Sánchez et al. (2013); Hordijk et
312 al. (2015); Prieto et al. (2018, 2022); Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar (2021).

- Formatted: French (France)
- Formatted: Spanish (Spain)
- Formatted: Spanish (Spain)
- Formatted: Spanish (Spain)
- Formatted: Spanish (Spain)

315 **SYSTEMATIC PALEONTOLOGY**

316
317 Order: RODENTIA Bowdich, 1821
318 Family: CRICETIDAE Fischer [von Waldheim], 1817
319 Subfamily: CRICETOPINAE Matthew & Granger, 1923
320 Tribe: MELISSIODONTINI Schaub, 1925
321 Genus: *Melissiodon* Schaub, 1920

322 *Melissiodon* aff. *schlosseri* Schaub, 1925
323 **Remarks on the systematics:**
324 Though Schaub (1920) pointed out that the clade deserved a family rank, it was not
325 until five years later that its formal definition as family level (i.e. Melissiodontidae) was
326 published (Schaub 1925). Many studies hesitated to include the genus *Melissiodon* into
327 the family Muridae (e.g., Freudenthal et al. 1992; Kristkoiz 1992) based on aberrant
328 features in the skull and its derived morphology of the cheek teeth. Therefore, this
329 genus was the only member of the subfamily Melissiodontinae for most of the last
330 century. That was until Ünay-Bayraktar (1989) erected the genus *Edirnella* based on a
331 few isolated upper cheek teeth from the middle Oligocene (MP25) locality of
332 Kocayarma (Thrace Basin, Turkey). This genus was accommodated into the subfamily
333 Melissiodontinae mainly because it shares with *Melissiodon* the character of having a
334 cuspid between the anterocone complex and the protocone (protostyle in this work,

- Deleted: *dominans*
- Deleted: Dehm
- Deleted: 5
- Deleted: 0
- Moved (insertion) [1]
- Formatted: English (United States)
- Formatted: English (United States)
- Commented [RL1]: Cricetidae? Look at Freudenthal et al. 1992, again,
- Formatted: English (United States)
- Deleted: by
- Formatted: English (United States)
- Formatted: English (United States)
- Formatted: English (United States)
- Deleted: of
- Formatted: English (United States)

following Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar 2018). In the same publication, Ünay-
 Bayraktar grouped both subfamilies (i.e. Melissiodontinae, with *Melissiodon* and
Edirnella; and Paracricetodontinae, with *Paracricetodon* and *Trakymys*) into the family
 Melissiodontidae, which was strongly criticized and not followed by subsequent works
 (e.g., Freudenthal et al. 1992; Kristkoiz 1992; Kalthoff 2006). New remains from the
 late Eocene deposits of Sıngülü (Lesser Caucasus, Turkey) were considered as
 belonging to *Edirnella* and included in the subfamily Melissiodontinae (see de Bruijn et
 al. 2003). The third genus belonging to Melissiodontinae, i.e., *Mogilia* Wessels et al.,
 2018, contains two species of the Eocene-Oligocene of Serbia: *M. miloshi* and *M. lautus*
 (Wessels et al. 2018).
 The subfamily Cricetopsinae was originally established by de Buijn & Koenigswald
 (1994), but McKenna & Bell (1997) emmended it to Cricetopinae (terminology
 followed in this work). As for the phylogenetic analyses, Maridet & Ni (2013)
 recovered *Melissiodon* into this subfamily, being *Melissiodon* sister species of
Selenomys, and both of them sister group of *Mirrabella*: the monophyletic group
 including the former three genera was called *Melissiodon* clade. Maridet & Ni (2013)
 included other genera into Cricetopinae (e.g., *Cricetops*, *Metamys*, and *Selenomys*),
 however, the most remarkable reallocation was the inclusion of *Edirnella* in the
 subfamily Pseudocricetodontinae, and consequently, more closely related to the genera
Pseudocricetodon, *Adelomyarion* and *Raricricetodon*. This proposal was not followed
 by Wessels et al. (2018), as they placed all the three genera, i.e., *Edirnella*, *Melissiodon*
 and *Mogilia*, into subfamily Melissiodontinae mainly based on the enamel
 microstructure, a key character omitted by Maridet & Ni (2013) in their phylogenetic
 study. Despite the debate regarding its phylogenetic position, Melissiodontinae

- Commented [RL2]: But melissiodon cusp according to ...
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Deleted: under
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Deleted: More recently,
- Deleted: n
- Formatted
- Deleted: referred
- Formatted
- Deleted: in the subfamily
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Deleted: the
- Formatted
- Deleted: the two would constitute the
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Deleted: that
- Formatted
- Deleted: was recovered
- Deleted: to
- Formatted
- Deleted: tightly
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Deleted: mainly
- Formatted
- Commented [RL3]: And also based on the morphology of ...
- Formatted
- Formatted
- Deleted: melissiodontine genera
- Formatted
- Formatted

represent one of the first muroids that have been recorded outside of Asia, and yet, these are still poorly known.

Measurements: see Table 1

(Fig. 3A–AB)

Studied material:

MWQ 2/2003: fragment of left maxilla with M1–M2 (Pal. 3381); fragment of right maxilla with M1–M2 (Pal. 3382); fragment of left maxilla with M1 (Pal. 3490); fragment of right maxilla with M1 (Pal. 3488); four left M1 (Pal. 3371, Pal. 3491, Pal. 3492, Pal. 3493); two right M1 (Pal. 3380, Pal. 3489); one left M2 (Pal. 3496); four right M2 (Pal. 3372, Pal. 3383, Pal. 3495); one left M3 (Pal. 3377); one left m1 (Pal. 3373); two right m1 (Pal. 3374, Pal. 3494); one left m2 (Pal. 3375); two right m2 (Pal. 3497, Pal. 3498); two left m3 (Pal. 3501, Pal. 3502); three right m3 (Pal. 3376, Pal. 3499, Pal. 3500).

MCQ 3/2005: one right M1 (Pal. 3931); one fragment left m1 (Pal. 3903); one left m2 (Pal. 3930).

Description

M1 (Fig. 3A–K): The teeth show five cylindrical roots, the two larger ones situated below the anterocone complex and the protocone. There are two slimmer roots below the metacone and the hypocone. The fifth root is conspicuously thinner than the others, and is situated below the paracone. The anterocone complex is massive and protrudes anteriorly. It presents two cusps, the largest one placed in a centro-lingual position.

Both cusps are separated by deep and narrow notch, which is almost enclosed anteriorly in Pal. 3492 (Fig. 3I). The lingual anterocone is connected to the anterolophule. This

Commented [RL4]: Attention you have remains of Atavocricetodon before Melissiodon and Pseudocricetodon at about the same age

Deleted: to be

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted:

Deleted: but

Deleted: very

Deleted: ih

408 cusp also has a lingual spur that merges with a distolabial crest running from the
409 protostyle. Furthermore, it connects to the anterolophule, dividing the protosinus in 8
410 out of 11 teeth (Pal. 3491, Fig. 3H); in Pal 3492 (Fig. 3I), this lingual spur merges with
411 the anterolophule before the anterolophule cusp, leaving the protostyle isolated and the
412 protosinus complete; in Pal. 3489 (Fig. 3G), it ends before reaching the spur from the
413 protostyle, and in Pal. 3382 (Fig. 3B), it reaches the anterolophule cusp without
414 connecting to the protostyle. In addition, Pal. 3493 (Fig. 3J) shows a large spur from the
415 protostyle that reaches the labial spur of the lingual anterocone. The anterior spur of the
416 protostyle connects to a spur running lingually from the lingual anterocone enclosing a
417 small sinus in 7/11 teeth (Pal. 3371, Fig. 3E); this crest is specially developed in Pal.
418 3490 (Fig. 3C). The rest of the specimens show a different degree of development of the
419 spurs without fully enclosing the small sinus (i.e., Pal. 3491, Fig. 3H). The labial
420 anterocone is also large: it connects to the lingual anterocone through a lingual spur and
421 to the two anterior paracone spurs, enclosing the anterosinus. The anterior lingual
422 paracone spur shows a short crest running labially in Pal. 3380 (Fig. 3F). In Pal. 3489,
423 3491 and 3493 (Fig. 3G, H, J) it shows a short crest running lingually towards a short
424 labial spur from anterolophule but without connecting to it. A small anterostyle is
425 present in Pal. 3381, 3382, 3371 and 3493 (Fig. 3A, B, E, J); it is very strong and
426 isolated from the other cusps in Pal. 3492 (Fig. 3I). Pal. 3931 shows a short transverse
427 crest between the paracone and the labial anterocone (Fig. 3H). The protolophule is
428 defined by a labial spur of the protocone, which is slightly longer than the lingual one of
429 the paracone. The mesocone is well-developed and connected to the protolophule
430 through a short anterior arm (10/11) or isolated from it (1/11; Pal. 3490, Fig. 3C). The
431 posterior arm of the mesocone runs labially and connects to the entoloph, except for Pal.
432 3490 (Fig. 3C), in which it seems to be isolated.

Deleted: and further

Deleted: :

Deleted: it shows a short crest running lingually towards a short labial spur from anterolophule but without connecting to it

Deleted: i

Deleted: ,

Deleted: there is the impression of an

Deleted: mesocone

Although the morphology of the mesoloph is also variable, it always runs oblique towards the labial end of the tooth. It connects to the posterior arm of the mesocone, and in three specimens, the it is long enough to reach the anterior arm of the mesocone (Fig. 3E, F, G). The entoloph runs labially and joins the metalophule. The mesoloph area is highly variable. In Pal. 3382 and 3488 there is a single connection to the mesoloph, but closer to the mesocone (Fig. 3B, D). In Pal. 3488, the extra metalophule spur runs distolabially and connects to the metacone (Fig. 3D) however; this crest is much shorter in Pal. 3491 and Pal. 3931 (Fig. 3H, K) in anteroposterior direction. The remaining teeth (7/11) show an extra metalophule spur that is joined to the mesoloph, enclosing a small pit that can be narrow (Pal. 3381, Fig. 3A) or wide (Pal. 3371, Fig. 3E). Pal. 3382 (Fig. 3B) is the only tooth that does not show an extra metalophule spur. A small mesostyle is present at the connection between the labial crests. Both paracone and metacone show labial spurs that connect with the mesoloph labially. This connection protrudes labially and is specially marked in Pal. 3382 (Fig. 3B). The sinus is partially open. The posteroloph is low and connects to the posterior spur of the metacone. In 7/11, teeth it runs labially surpassing the posterior spur of the metacone (Fig. 3F). In 9/11 teeth a hypoconule is present (Fig. 3F). All specimens show a short lingual posteroloph from the hypocone.

Deleted: anterior spur

Deleted: is

Deleted: rest of the

Deleted: in all teeth, showing different degree of development

Deleted: past

M2 (Fig. 3L–O): All molars have a rectangular outline. There are four roots, the anterolabial being the thinner one. The lingual anteroloph is short but very robust, anterocone-like in 6/7 teeth, and being very thin in Pal 3383 (Fig. 3M). The anterolophule reaches the anterior lingual spur of the paracone. In half of molars there is a distinct anterolophule cusp. Additionally, Pal. 3381 shows a small bump where the anterolophule meets the anterior lingual spur of the paracone (Fig. 3A). The labial

473 anteroloph connects to the labial anterior spur of the paracone in 6/7 teeth: Pal. 3381
 474 shows an incomplete labial anteroloph, leaving the anterosinus open (Fig. 3A). The
 475 protolophule is straight. The posterior lingual spur of the paracone is long in all teeth
 476 except for Pal. 3381 (Fig. 3A). It reaches the protolophule (3/6; Fig. 3L) or ends right
 477 before it (3/6; Fig. 3N). In Pal. 3381, 3382, and 3495 the protolophule merges with the
 478 mesoloph (Fig. 3A, B, N). The mesoloph and mesocone are show high variability within
 479 the assemblage of Mokrá-Quarry. The mesocone is round. The anterior arm of the
 480 mesocone turns anteriorly and connects to the protolophule in two specimens (Fig. 3L,
 481 O). It runs labially and connects to the mesoloph in Pal. 3383 (Fig. 3M). However, in
 482 Pal. 3381 and 3495 the anterior arm of the mesocone runs labially and splits in two,
 483 connecting to the protolophule and to the mesoloph (Fig. 3A, N). Only in Pal. 3382
 484 (Fig. 3B) the anterior arm of the mesocone is reduced to a short spur that does not reach
 485 the mesoloph or the protolophule. In all specimens, the posterior arm of the mesocone
 486 connects to the entoloph, except for Pal. 3372, in which is connected to the metalophule
 487 (Fig. 3L). As seen in Pal. 3495-3496 (Fig. 3N, O) there is an extra spur from the
 488 posterior arm of the mesocone that reaches the mesoloph. This extra spur does not fully
 489 connect to the mesoloph in Pal. 3381 (Fig. 3A) but there is a double connection to the
 490 entoloph. The metalophule is always connected to the mesoloph. A mesostyle is absent.
 491 The ectoloph connects to the metalophule (Fig. 3L). The sinus is open in all teeth. The
 492 posteroloph reaches the posterior spur of the metacone. All teeth show a lingual
 493 posteroloph running from the hypocone (Fig. 3M).

Deleted: f

Deleted: is

Deleted: protocone hind arm

Deleted: protocone hind arm

Deleted: neither

Deleted: nor

Deleted: No distinct mesostyle is discerned

Deleted: labial

494
 495 **M3** (Fig. 3P): This molar shows three roots: two labially located and one lingual,
 496 which is thicker than the other two. Pal. 3377 has a rounded outline and is narrow. The
 497 labial anteroloph is thin and without reaching the labial spur of the paracone (Fig. 3P).

506 A very low lingual anteroloph that does not reach the base of the protocone is preserved.
507 Both protocone and paracone are high and well-developed. The anterolophule is straight
508 and reaches the anterior lingual spur of the paracone. The protolophule is fused with the
509 metalophule, which runs from a very small metacone. The lingual paracone spur does
510 not reach the protolophule. The entoloph is somewhat short and therefore does not reach
511 the metalophule. The posterior arm of the hypocone connects with the metacone. All the
512 sinuses are open.

Deleted: protocone hind arm

Deleted: re

513

514 **m1** (Fig. 3Q–T): Both lingual and labial anteroconids are well-developed and
515 separated by a deep anterior groove (clearly visible in Pal. 3373; Fig. 3Q). Despite its
516 fragmentary preservation, Pal. 3494 has a short cristid running lingually from the labial
517 anteroconid towards the lingual one, without fully attaching to it (Fig. 3S). The lingual
518 anteroconid is massive and located slightly posterior to the labial anteroconid. It is
519 connected to the metaconid through a short posterior spur. The metaconid lacks a well-
520 developed anterolingual cristid, which leaves the anterosinusid open. The
521 anterolophulid connects to both anteroconids and to the protoconid in all teeth. The
522 anterolophulid connects to the labial anteroconid posteriorly. The anterolophulid cuspid
523 is large. A short spur developed towards the metaconid is preserved, but without
524 connecting to it. The labial anteroconid is large and bulge-like, and protrudes anteriorly:
525 it is isolated from the protoconid as the protosinusid is open. The protoconid is large
526 and its hind arm connects to the labial posterior spur from the metaconid, and reaches
527 the lingual edge of the tooth (Fig. 3R). The anterior arm of the mesoconid connects to
528 the protoconid hind arm in all specimens, showing a small bulge in Pal. 3374 (Fig. 3R).
529 The mesolophid always starts at the anterior arm of the mesoconid, showing different
530 degrees of development: in Pal. 3373 it is divided but does not reach the anterior arm of

Deleted: is

Deleted: distal

Deleted: :

Deleted: i

537 the entoconid (Fig. 3Q); in Pal. 3374 it turns slightly anterior, connecting to the
538 protoconid hind arm and enclosing a small pit (Fig. 3R); in Pal. 3494 (Fig. 3S) it runs
539 parallel to the protoconid hind arm towards the labial anterior spur of entoconid; in Pal
540 3903, the anterior arm of the mesoconid appears to run labially and the mesolophid is
541 reduced to a short spur that ends next to the anterior arm of the entoconid without
542 attaching to it (Fig. 3T). The ectolophid is short and attached~~d~~ to the mesoconid. The
543 entoconid has the labial cristids much better developed than the lingual ones, which are
544 almost absent. The labial posterior cristid reaches the posterolophid. There is a well-
545 developed ~~posteriorly~~ oriented spur running from the posterolophid (Fig. 3S). The
546 sinusid is open labially, Pal 3494 (Fig. 3S) has a well-developed ectomesolophid that
547 almost reaches the mesoconid. ~~However~~, in Pal 3903 there is a small bump instead (Fig.
548 3T).

Deleted: s

Deleted: distally

Deleted: It

Deleted: ,

Deleted: h

549
550 **m2** (Fig. 3U–X): Pal. 3498 is damaged anteriorly and lingually (Fig. 3W). The four
551 teeth preserve a very short labial anterolophulid. The protosinusid is open. The lingual
552 anterolophid is well-developed and connects to an anterior labial spur running from the
553 metaconid. There is no anterior lingual cristid from the metaconid, leaving the
554 anterosinusid open. The protoconid hind arm is long and runs distolingually reaching
555 the labial edge. The posterior spurs of the metaconid and the anterior one from the
556 entoconid attach to the protoconid hind arm. The mesoconid is well-developed and its
557 short anterior arm runs anterolabially to connect to the protoconid hind arm. The
558 mesolophid preserves different configurations: in Pal. 3375, a very short spurs starts
559 from the protoconid hind arm but does not reach the mesoconid (Fig. 3U); in Pal. 3497,
560 a short mesolophid starts from the centre of the mesoconid and merges with the
561 protoconid hind arm (Fig. 3V); in Pal. 3498, a long mesolophid, starting from the centre

of the mesoconid runs parallel to the protoconid hind arm and links to the anterior labial spur of the entoconid (Fig. 3W); in Pal. 3930 (Fig. 3X), the short mesolophid merges with the protoconid hind arm as seen in Pal. 3497. The ectolophid is short and preserves a short spur in 3375 (Fig. 3U), whereas in Pal. 3390 (Fig. 3X) it is large. The posterolophid is very low and connects to the two posterior spurs of the entoconid. The sinusid is open.

Deleted: , X

Deleted: U

m3 (Fig. 3Y–3AB): The molars are elongated with a rounded posterior side. There are two roots, the posterior one being much broader than the anterior one. The protoconid connects to an anterior labial spur which departs from the metaconid through a well-developed anterolophulid that runs straight. Eventhough some teeth have a thickening on the anterolophulid (Pal. 3376, 3502; Fig. 3Z, AB) there is no distinct anteroconid. The protosinus is open. The protoconid hind arm reaches the labial edge; the lingual posterior spur of the metaconid and the anterior one from the entoconid connect to it. Pal. 3376 and 3501 also have a posterior labial spur of the metaconid (Fig. 3Z, AA). The mesoconid is again where the most variability occurs. Pal. 3376 and 3502 (Fig. 3Z, AB) present a small but distinct mesoconid, whereas in the rest of the teeth a distinguishable bulge is absent. The hypolophulid is short and directed distolingually (Fig. 3Y). Pal. 3501 shows a division of the hypolophulid into two very short spurs (Fig. 3AA). The posterolophid gets progressively lower, attaching to the base of the entoconid; there is no posterior spur running from this cuspid. The sinusid is open.

Deleted: ,

DISCUSSION

The *Melissiodon* remains from Mokr-Quarry described here show clear differences with *Melissiodon dominans* from all MN3 and MN4 localities. For instance, one of

Deleted: it

596 these differences lies on the smaller side of the size range of *M. dominans* from MN3
597 sites (including the type population of Wintershof-West; Fig. 4). When compared with
598 MN4 sites, the population from Mokrá- Quarry is smaller than most of them, except for
599 Rembach and Forsthart. Besides differences in size between populations there are
600 marked morphological differences. Hrubesch (1957) already noticed that *Melissiodon*
601 shows a wide range of morphological variability, especially in the first upper and lower
602 molars, where the stronger morphological differences occur. However, our study
603 evidences clear differences regarding not only the first upper and lower molars, but also
604 the second and third ones.

605 The assemblage of *Melissiodon* from Mokrá-Quarry resembles the scarce remains of
606 *M. schlosseri* from Haslach (one m1 and one m3) and *M. aff. schlosseri* (one mandible
607 with m1-m3) from Ulm-Uniklinik (both from Germany, MN2) in having on the m1 a
608 large cuspid-like labial anteroconid that protrudes anteriorly. However, while the
609 connection of this cuspid to the anterolophid is posterior in the population from Mokrá-
610 Quarry, it is placed more lingually in the *Melissiodon* sample from these German sites
611 (see Schaub 1925: plate 4, fig. 16; and Werner 1994: fig. 27a). Yet, due to the under
612 sampling of the populations attributed to *M. schlosseri* and *M. aff. schlosseri*, it cannot
613 be addressed whether it is a morphological difference or rather just intraspecific
614 variability. Moreover, the overall robustness pattern of cuspids in the available m1, not
615 only anteroconids, but also main cuspids as well as mesoconid, is a shared feature
616 between the *Melissiodon* population from Mokrá and *M. schlosseri* from the MN2 sites.
617 The single m2 recovered of *Melissiodon aff. schlosseri* resembles the overall
618 morphology of the population from Mokrá-Quarry. However, while the posterior labial
619 cristid of the metaconid always connects to the protoconid hind arm in all teeth
620 recovered from Mokrá, it connects to the lingual posterior cristid of the metaconid in the

Commented [RL5]: Please, rewrite this sentence

Deleted: size

Deleted: also

Deleted: h

Deleted: reveals not only evident

Deleted: in

Deleted: in

Deleted: as well

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Deleted: assemblage

Deleted: in the m1

Commented [RL6]: Not in the other *Melissiodon*?

single tooth from Ulm-Uniklinik (Werner 1994: fig. 27b). Regarding the m3, there are no marked differences between both populations.

The type population of *M. dominans* from Wintershof-West presents a small labial anteroconid that is connected lingually to the anterolophulid and labially to the protoconid (Hrubesch 1957), which differs with the anterior morphology of the m1 in the population from Mokr-Quarry. The m1s from Mokr-Quarry have a clearly developed labial anteroconid, cuspid-like, which protrudes anteriorly and is only connected to the anterolophulid through a posterior spur (Fig. 3Q; see also Bonilla-Salomn et al. 2021a: fig. 3A). Moreover, the labial posterior cristid of the entoconid always reaches the posterolophid in the *Melissiodon* teeth from Mokr-Quarry, while it never reaches the posterolophid in the type population. The m2 of *M. dominans* from Wintershof-West are somewhat larger, and the mesolophid, when present, develops from the anterior arm of the mesoconid in the majority of the population, whereas it always starts from the mesoconid in *Melissiodon* from Mokr-Quarry. The m3s of *Melissiodon dominans* from the type locality are larger than those from Mokr-Quarry. Two m3s of *Melissiodon* from Mokr-Quarry show a posterior labial spur of the metaconid, character that is absent in all populations of *M. dominans* along the early Miocene. The anterocone complex in the M1 of *Melissiodon* remains from Mokr-Quarry is massive and protrudes anteriorly compared with the type population and other MN3 sites. Moreover, the furrow between labial and lingual anterocones is narrower than any population of *M. dominans*. In addition, the lingual anterocone has a second posterior spur, which runs lingually and connects with a posterior spur of the protostyle and an anterior one from the anteroloph, thus dividing the protosinus. This feature, present in the vast majority of M1 from Mokr-Quarry is only present in a single tooth from the type locality and single specimens from other MN3 sites: Ramblar 7 (Ses

Commented [RL7]: Which population?

Commented [RL8]: Which one?

1987); and Turó de les Forques 1 (Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar 2018). Regarding the M2, the material from Mokrá-Quarry also has some clear differences with *M. dominans* from the type locality. Firstly, it is narrower than the type population (Fig. 4). Secondly, *Melissiodon* assemblage from Mokrá-Quarry has a long posterior lingual crest from the paracone, which either connects to the protolophule or ends right before it. On the contrary, *M. dominans* from Wintershof-West shows a very short posterior lingual spur of the paracone (Hrubesch 1957: plate 3, fig. 8-11) that never reaches the protolophule. Concerning the M3, besides the smaller size compared with the type locality (Fig. 4), the protolophule does not reach the paracone, and furthermore it turns posteriorly merging with the metalophule towards a very small metacone.

Melissiodon dominans from Forsthart and Rembach (Germany, MN4) preserves an isolated, cristid-like, labial anteroconid (see Ziegler & Fahlbusch 1986: plate 10, fig. 4-6). This morphology of the anterior part of the m1 differs already from what it is observed in *M. dominans* from the type locality, and even more when compared with the robust cuspid-like labial anteroconid that show the populations of *Melissiodon* from Mokrá-Quarry. Unfortunately, Ziegler & Fahlbusch (1986) did not consider this morphological character different enough to erect a new species. Although Mokrá-Quarry, Forsthart and Rembach sites yielded alike small mammal assemblages (i.e., *Democricetodon* and *Megacricetodon*), the morphology of this character displayed in *Melissiodon* from these sites is completely different, suggesting that the development of more robust labial and lingual anteroconids in the evolutionary history rather represent different evolutionary lines within the genus. Moreover, the presence of already well-developed anteroconids in the lower molars in older populations of *Melissiodon* (i.e., Haslach and Ulm-Uniklinik: Schaub 1925 and Wermer 1994, respectively) could indicate that this trend developed on different lineages at different moments. The m2 of

Deleted: quite

Deleted: is

Deleted: different

Deleted: the

Deleted: the

Deleted: populations

Deleted: show

Deleted: populations

Melissiodon from Mokrá-Quarry has a connection of the posterior labial cristid of the metaconid to the protoconid hind arm. However, in *M. dominans* from Rembach and Forsthart this cristid never reaches the protoconid hind arm. In addition, the mesolophid starts at the center of the mesoconid, whereas in *M. dominans* from these and other MN4 localities always starts at the anterior arm of the mesoconid. Concerning the m3, in *M. dominans* from Rembach and Forsthart the anterolophulid is straight, whereas in *Melissiodon* from Mokrá-Quarry it is oblique and reaches a well-developed anterior labial spur of the metaconid. Ziegler & Fahlbusch (1986) considered the presence of a labial spur of the mesoconid in all m3 to be a derived character of *Melissiodon dominans* from MN4 sites. However, this feature is absent in all m3 recovered from Mokrá-Quarry, and since the assemblages share a very similar age with the German sites, the absence of this character would point to the presence of a different form of *Melissiodon* in Mokrá-Quarry sites. Regarding the upper molars, the M1 of *M. dominans* from Rembach and Fortshart appear to show a much more developed labial anterocone, which is placed more labially than the *Melissiodon* assemblage from Mokrá-Quarry. In the M1s from these German populations, the second posterior spur of the lingual anterocone is also absent (see above). The M2 from Rembach and Fortshart besides having a shorter posterior lingual spur of the paracone, show no connection between the protolophule and the mesocone, while this feature is preserved in 5/7 teeth in Mokrá-Quarry (Fig. 3L-O). As for the M3, the assemblages of Rembach and Fortshart show the same differences with *Melissiodon* from Mokrá-Quarry as the type population (see above).

Compared with Western European *Melissiodon* assemblages, a well-developed labial anteroconid cuspid-like displayed by the population from Mokrá-Quarry sites resembles the conditions of the single m1 reported from the MN5 site of Vieux-Collonges, (Mein

Deleted: remains

714 & Freudenthal 1981: plate 2, fig. 12), and the older and larger m1 from Sant Andreu de
715 la Barca 1 (Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar 2018; fig. 2c). It is noteworthy that the
716 connection with the anterior spur of the anterolophulid is lingual in these sites, whereas
717 in *Melissiodon* remains from Mokrá-Quarry it is posterior. However, a cristid-like labial
718 anteroconid is clearly visible in the single m1 available from Montalvos 2 (Hordijk et al.
719 2015: fig. 2e), resembling the MN4 populations of Rembach and Fortshart. The recently
720 published material of *M. dominans* from Echzell show a cristid-like labial anteroconid
721 as well, but connected lingually to the anterolophulid (Jovells-Vaqué & Mörs 2022). As
722 for the M1s, the single specimens recovered from Sant Mamet (Jovells-Vaqué &
723 Casanovas-Vilar 2018) and Montalvos 2 (Hordijk et al. 2015), besides being larger,
724 show no second posterior spur from the lingual anterocone. Compared with other Czech
725 sites (i.e., Dolnice 1, 2, 3 and Ořechov), within the populations there are specimens that
726 also possess a bulgy labial anteroconid (see Fejfar 1990), and therefore resemble those
727 from Mokrá-Quarry more than *M. dominans* from other MN3 and MN4 sites. Regarding
728 M1, most of the assemblage depicted by Fejfar (1990) also show a second posterior spur
729 of the lingual anterocone, dividing the protosinus. However, the short study published
730 by Fejfar (1990) only included the first upper and lower molars, so there is no
731 information regarding the rest of the tooth row.

732 The single M3 and the preserved portion (posterior side) of one m1 from the Turkish
733 locality of Kargı 2 attributed to *Melissiodon* sp. show strong differences with the
734 population from Mokrá-Quarry. For instance, the M3 shows a much more rounded
735 outline and absence of connection between protolophule and metalophule, which is
736 present in *Melissiodon* from Mokrá-Quarry.

737 Overall, the *Melissiodon* remains recovered from Mokrá-Quarry show more
738 resemblance with *M. schlosseri* than with *M. dominans*, especially in the anterior half of

the m1. However, *M. schlosseri* was erected based on a single m1 and m3 from the MN2 locality of Haslach, and therefore, it is poorly known. On the other hand, *M. dominans* populations across MN3 and MN4 localities show a wide array of morphological variability. For that reason, it is complicated to establish the set of features characteristic of the species. Based on our current knowledge and all the stated above, the material described here is referred to *Melissiodon* aff. *schlosseri*. Furthermore, the previously described material from MWQ 1/2001 ascribed to *M. dominans* (Bonilla-Salomón et al. 2021a) is here referred to *M. aff. schlosseri* as well.

Evolutionary history of *Melissiodon* during the early Miocene

The first phylogenetic hypothesis of the genus *Melissiodon* was proposed by Hrubesch (1957: fig. 125), in which he suggested the existence of various lineages during the Oligocene, whereas during the early Miocene only two branches persisted. Even though the author also considered *Melissiodon arambourgi* to be a completely different lineage, the species has been proven to be a synonym of *M. dominans* (see Agustí 1981; Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar 2018). During the early Miocene, *M. dominans* would be the most abundant species, known in MN3 and MN4 localities, and reaching the Burdigalian before its extinction during the latest early Miocene. The second lineage present in the early Miocene led to *M. schlosseri*. Although the recovered material was very scarce, Hrubesch (1957) considered *M. schlosseri* from Haslach (MN2) to be different to any other species of the genus, based on the specialization of the anterior part of the m1, and more specifically in having stronger cuspids and well-developed bulge-like anteroconids. According to the author, the material was singular enough to represent a different lineage with no connection to *M. dominans*. Given no other related remains to Haslach material were found, this species

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Deleted: ¶

The *Melissiodon* remains from Mokrá-Quarry described here show clear differences with *Melissiodon dominans* from all MN3 and MN4 localities. For instance, it lies on the smaller side of the size range of *M. dominans* from MN3 sites (including the type population, Wintershof-West; Fig. 4). When compared with MN4 sites, the population from Mokrá-Quarry is smaller than most of them, with the exception of Rembach and Forsthart. Despite being about the same size as *M. dominans* from the above mentioned German localities, there are strong morphological differences between these populations and Mokrá-Quarry. Hrubesch (1957) already noticed that *Melissiodon* shows a wide range of morphological variability, and more specifically the first and lower molars are where the stronger morphological changes occur. However, our study focused on *Melissiodon* remains from Mokrá reveals marked differences in first upper and lower molars, as well as in second and third ones. Regarding the m1, the type population of *M. dominans* always presents a small labial anteroconid that connects with the protoconid and anterolophulid (see Hrubesch 1957). Instead, the *M. dominans* from Forsthart and Rembach preserve an isolated, cristid-like, labial anteroconid (see Ziegler & Fahlbusch 1986: plate 10, fig. 4-6), but the authors did not consider it different enough to erect a new species. This feature is also clearly visible in the single m1 available from Montalvos 2 (Hordijk et al. 2015: fig. 2e). Nevertheless, the m1s from Mokrá-Quarry have a clearly developed labial anteroconid, cuspid-like, which protrudes anteriorly and is only connected to the anterolophulid through a posterior spur (Fig. 3Q; see also Bonilla-Salomón et al. 2021a: fig. 3A). As far as we know, this character is not present in any population of *M. dominans*. Among MN3-MN4 *Melissiodon* assemblages, a well-developed labial anteroconid cuspid-like displayed by the population from Mokrá-Quarry sites is only present in the single m1 reported from the MN4 site of Vieux-Collonges, (Mein and Freudenthal 1981: plate 2, fig. 12), and the older and larger m1 from Sant Andreu de la

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0 cm

Deleted: t

Deleted: .

Deleted: but

Deleted: These two lineages continuing into the

Deleted:

Deleted: would lead to

Deleted:

Deleted: (

Deleted:)

Deleted: and the short lineage that would lead to

Deleted: the

Deleted: is

Deleted: although the material identified as *M. schlosseri* was very scarce, it

Deleted: the species

Deleted: in other localities during the early Miocene

899 represents a completely isolated branch in European localities, i.e., with unknown origin
900 and no continuation along the early Miocene. More recently, Werner (1994) described a
901 partial left mandible with m1-m3 from Ulm-Uniklinik (MN2), a slightly younger
902 locality than Haslach, which was referred to *Melissiodon* aff. *schlosseri*. He also pointed
903 out a small difference in the size of the labial anteroconid, which although large, it was
904 only somewhat smaller than the type species. In fact, as the type species was based on
905 very few remains (and only one m1) it could not be discarded that the small difference
906 in size could be explained by intraspecific variability. Shortly after, Engesser &
907 Mödden (1997) reported two different *Melissiodon* taxa from La Chaux 7, an MN2 site
908 from Switzerland with similar age to Haslach. The remains were attributed to *M.* aff.
909 *schlosseri* and *M.* cf. *dominans*, but no metrics nor descriptions of either taxa were
910 provided. Indeed, La Chaux 7 constitutes up to date the only site from which two
911 different taxa of the genus have been recorded. However, no other remains of
912 *Melissiodon* that related to *M. schlosseri* or this lineage of the genus (*sensu* Hrubesch
913 1957) have been found at MN3 or MN4 localities.
914 *Melissiodon* aff. *schlosseri* from Mokrá-Quarry shows a high degree of development
915 of both lingual and labial anteroconids on the m1, more developed than in *M. dominans*
916 from the MN3 type locality and differently arranged than in *M. dominans* from other
917 MN4 Central European localities. The poorly known *Melissiodon schlosseri* from
918 Haslach shows morphology of the anteroconids in the m1 that resemble the size and
919 development of *M.* aff. *schlosseri* from Mokrá-Quarry. That, together with the overall
920 differences of the assemblage from Mokrá-Quarry with *M. dominans* (see Discussion
921 section above), imply that the material presented here could represent a younger species
922 derived from *M. schlosseri*. However, our knowledge on *M. schlosseri* is still very
923 limited, reduced to a very few teeth, and we concur that a revision of the type material

Deleted: cannot

Deleted: ,

Deleted: but

Moved (insertion) [2]

Deleted: .

Deleted:

Moved up [2]: that related to *M. schlosseri* or this lineage of the genus (*sensu* Hrubesch 1957).

Deleted: *dominans*

Deleted: other

Deleted: a

Deleted: *dominans*

Deleted: remarks

936 will be required before the erection of new species. Even though the high diachrony
 937 between regions in Europe prevent a more straightforward correlation, in Figure 5 the
 938 biochronologic distribution of *Melissiodon* taxa during the early Miocene in Europe, is
 939 shown. If *Melissiodon* aff. schlosseri from Mokr-Quarry is, in fact, closely related to
 940 *M. schlosseri*, this would imply that the lineage survived until the latest early Miocene.
 941 However, the evolution and distribution of this lineage at MN3 localities still remains
 942 unclear. The single m1 from the MN3 site of Sant Andreu de la Barca (Jovells-Vaqu &
 943 Casanovas-Vilar 2018: fig. 2C) also shows a similar pattern in the development of
 944 anteroconids, despite it being larger than *M. aff. schlosseri* and *M. schlosseri* (see Fig.
 945 4). The taxonomical assignment at the species level of this single molar within the
 946 evolution of the genus is still uncertain, but also could indicate the existence of more
 947 taxa besides *M. dominans* at MN3 localities.

948 As for MN4 sites, the assemblages of *Melissiodon* are smaller in size compared with
 949 the type population. Besides the size decrease, the *Melissiodon* populations from
 950 Germany sites (Zielger & Falhbusch 1986) show a completely different arrangement of
 951 the anteroconid area in m1 (see Discussion section above). The increase in size of the
 952 anteroconid area, a common trend in the *M. dominans* lineage already noticed by
 953 several authors (e.g., Hrubesch 1957), together with the complete lack of a labial
 954 anteroconid could also indicate a different taxon. Additionally, our recent inspection of
 955 the material from Dolnice sites and Oechov attributed to *M. dominans* by Fejfar (1990)
 956 reveals two different m1 morphotypes in that MN4 populations: the cuspid-like labial
 957 anteroconid of *Melissiodon* aff. schlosseri from Mokr-Quarry and the cristid-like labial
 958 anteroconid of *M. dominans* from German sites, with clear predominance of the latter. It
 959 is noteworthy that the morphotype of the m1 present in Mokr-Quarry and other Czech
 960 localities is not only restricted to Central Europe or to the MN4 sites, since there is a

Deleted:

Deleted: asynchrony

Deleted: i

Deleted: s

Deleted: (the high asynchrony between regions in Europe prevent a more straightforward correlation)

Deleted: .

Deleted: *dominans*

Deleted: *dominans*

Deleted: Finally, the unpublished remains from hnkov I and II (under revision) will shed some light at the evolution of the genus during the MN3 at Central European assemblages.

Deleted: and

Deleted: remarks

Deleted: oe

Deleted: form

Deleted: *dominans*

Deleted: In any case, the different assemblages from the early Miocene of the Czech Republic will broaden our knowledge regarding morphological variability of the genus *Melissiodon* thanks to the richness of their collections.

Deleted: neither

984 single m1 recovered from Vieux-Collonges, France, (Mein & Freudenthal 1981; MN5)
 985 that clearly resembles *M. aff. schlosseri* from Mokr -Quarry. Mein & Freudenthal
 986 (1981) noticed that the morphological differences were distinct enough among
 987 *Melissiodon* spp., but the scarcity of the material prevented them to erect a new species.
 988 At any rate, the morphological variability of the genus during the latest early Miocene,
 989 prior to its extinction, seems higher than previously thought.
 990 Besides the complicated alpha-taxonomy of *Melissiodon* populations in MN4 sites,
 991 the lineage leading to *Melissiodon dominans* is still poorly known. The existence of a
 992 tendency towards size increase between the type locality (Wintershof-West) and
 993 younger MN3 sites has been confirmed by several publications: Ramblar, Ba on and
 994 Tur  de les Forques 1 sites in Spain (Ses  1987; Jovells-Vaqu  & Casanovas-Vilar
 995 2018) and Beaulieu 2B and Jauquet in France (Aguilar et al. 2003; Bulot et al. 2009,
 996 respectively). However, *M. dominans* from MN4 assemblages are usually smaller than
 997 those of the type locality (see Figure 4), which was also noticed by other authors (see
 998 Ziegler & Falhbusch 1986; Bulot & Ginsburg 1996; Bulot et al. 2009, for complete
 999 discussions). In fact, both Rembach and Fortshart have yielded remains of *M. dominans*
 1000 clearly smaller than those from MN3 localities (Fig. 4). These sites are undoubtedly
 1001 MN4 in age, according to the presence of both *Democricetodon* and *Megacricetodon*
 1002 genera. Overall, there are only a few exceptions in MN4 localities in which *Melissiodon*
 1003 *dominans* is larger than in other coeval sites. One of them is Montalvos 2, in which *M.*
 1004 *dominans* is larger than those from most MN4 localities where *Democricetodon* and
 1005 *Megacricetodon* are also found (see also Hordijk et al. 2015). These remains fit well
 1006 within the size range of *M. dominans* from Wintershof-West, however, the population
 1007 from Montalvos 2 shows an m1 morphotype that is similar to those from MN4 sites in
 1008 Germany. In Dolnice 1 there are two m1 that are clearly larger than the rest of the

Deleted: (

Deleted: ,

Deleted: *dominans*

Deleted: The authors

Commented [RL9]:  ??

Deleted: more complex

Deleted:

Deleted: previously

Deleted: and

Deleted: and

Deleted: undoubtedly

Deleted: . So, when comparing younger MN3 sites with the type locality, there is a general increase in size, a tendency that is interrupted in MN4 assemblages, where the populations are smaller

Deleted: in which

1024 assemblage and further similar size like the m1 from Montalvos 2. Nevertheless,
1025 Dolnice material has a cuspid-like labial anteroconid, instead of a cristid-like labial
1026 anteroconid like the one in Montalvos 2.

1027 The stated above confirms the complexity of the evolutionary history of *Melissiodon*,
1028 Thus, the coexistence of two different lineages within *Melissiodon* genus during the
1029 latest early Miocene cannot be discarded: one that slightly increases in size along the
1030 MN3 (as proposed by Aguilar et al. 2003); and a second one, smaller, that replaced the
1031 large one in most of the MN4 localities across Central and Western Europe. Whether it
1032 represents different populations within the *M. dominans* lineage or even different
1033 species is out of the scope of the present work. The scarcity of localities of the European
1034 fossil record of the early Miocene, together with the small populations that compose
1035 *Melissiodon dominans*, have turned *M. dominans* into a catch-all species. Therefore, a
1036 complete revision of all Miocene localities bearing *Melissiodon* remains is needed to
1037 elucidate and better comprehend the relationships between the different forms and the
1038 two species found across Europe during the early Miocene.

1040 **Paleoecological implications**

1041 Historically, the presence of *Melissiodon* has been linked to wooden areas and
1042 somewhat humid conditions (van der Weerd & Daams 1978). According to Sesé (1987),
1043 *Melissiodon* enters the Iberian Peninsula during a change from a relatively dry to a
1044 relatively wet climate (zone Z; Daams & van der Meulen 1984), and it is no longer
1045 recorded in the Calamocha area beyond zone A, when the climate is supposed to
1046 become relatively dry again. Mokrá-Quarry sites are characterized by its karstic
1047 conditions, together with patches of forest and swampy areas (Ivanov 2008; Ivanov et
1048 al. 2006, 2017, 2020; Sabol et al. 2007; Luján et al. 2017, 2021; Bonilla-Salomón et al.

Deleted: a

Deleted: above

Deleted: that

Deleted: is much more complex than previously thought

Deleted: ,

Deleted: In that sense, future studies of the *Melissiodon* assemblages from Central Europe, such as the Czech sites (i.e., Ahníkov I, II, Dolnice 1, 2, 3 and Ořeškov), will clarify some of these issues.

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

2021a), which agree with the conditions that presumably favored the presence of *Melissiodon*. Moreover, Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar (2018) argued that rich collections of *Melissiodon* from the Vallès-Penedès Basin come from localities where forest-dwelling rodents (dormice and tree-squirrels) are diverse and abundant. We concur with this premise as in Mokrá-Quarry several genera of sciurids adapted to arboreal lifestyle have been recovered (Bonilla-Salomón et al. 2021b).

The existence of different lineages of *Melissiodon* during the early Miocene could also imply the preference of certain palaeoecological conditions. However, there is no known locality during the latest early Miocene where two different species were undoubtedly proven. The only record of two coexistent *Melissiodon* taxa comes from the MN2 site of La Chaux 7 (Switzerland), where Engesser & Mödden (1997) identify *Melissiodon* aff. *schlosseri* and *M.* cf. *dominans*. The high degree of specialization of the first upper and lower molars, together with the clear difference between morphotypes, is likely to be related to slightly different feeding behaviors and, consequently, the preference towards certain habitats as well.

As for feeding adaptations, Mein & Freudenthal (1981) suggested frugivorous diet for *Melissiodon* and ventured that the genus may be arboreal. However, Hordijk et al. (2015) hypothesized that *Melissiodon* was a ground-dweller genus that fed on invertebrates (mainly earthworms), based on the morphological similarity of the teeth with the extant shrew rats from Sulawesi and Philippines. This assumption was also supported by Wessels et al. (2018), suggesting that subfamily Melissiodontinae (sensu Wessels et al. 2018) would feed on small invertebrates. Yet, the scarcity of localities where *Melissiodon* is found represents the main obstacle to interpret its feeding behaviors and palaeoecological preferences.

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted:

Deleted: ,

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: likely

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: A complete study of already known *Melissiodon* bearing sites based on new techniques (i.e. dental microwear) could help shed some light into this matter.

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

1089 **Conclusions**

1090 New remains of *Melissiodon* from Mokrá-Quarry (MWQ 2/2003 and MCQ 3/2005),
1091 attributed here to *M. aff. schlosseri*, are presented: the remains constitute one of the best
1092 documented assemblages of this genus among MN4 localities known so far. This
1093 population, characterized by having the first lower molars with strong cuspids and well-
1094 developed labial and lingual anteroconids, differs from all *Melissiodon* assemblages
1095 known from MN3 and MN4 localities. In fact, the morphology of the molars of *M. aff.*
1096 *schlosseri* soundly recalls that of the poorly known *M. schlosseri* from MN2 localities.
1097 Besides, *Melissiodon dominans* from some MN4 assemblages from Germany are
1098 lacking labial anteroconid while others still have this feature developed. This
1099 characteristic disrupts the evolutionary trend of *Melissiodon* species shown along the
1100 late Oligocene and the early Miocene of increasing the size of the anteroconids.
1101 Therefore, its assignation to *M. dominans* is dubious, and demands for a new revision of
1102 all material.

1103 Moreover, the apparent trend in size increase shown in *M. dominans* along MN3
1104 localities (with special relevance in the population from Schnaitheim) is abruptly
1105 interrupted in MN4 assemblages. Thus, the existence of different lines along the early
1106 Miocene cannot be discarded.

1107 The apparent diversity of poorly recorded taxa that lived during the Miocene
1108 suggests a more complex evolutionary history than previously thought. A complete
1109 revision of the genus is needed to help clarify its diversification and the relationships
1110 between the species during the early Miocene. Moreover, some of the already known
1111 assemblages that yielded *Melissiodon* remains from the Czech Republic call for a
1112 detailed study (i.e. Ahnřkov I and II, Dolnice sites and Ořechov), to better comprehend

Deleted: dominans

Deleted: populations

Deleted:

Deleted: already known

Deleted: in

Deleted: this

Deleted: unique

Deleted: suggests a closer relationship with

Deleted: feature

Commented [RL10]: Please, rephrase

Deleted: species

the diversity of the genus. The presence of several species in Central Europe along the early Miocene could indicate preference for different ecological conditions.

Acknowledgements

The authors are very grateful to I. Kostič for taking the SEM images of the dental remains. The authors also thank Raquel López-Antoñanzas, handling editor, as well as three anonymous reviewers for their constructive comments that greatly improved the article.

Deleted: .

Funding

The research reported in this work has been supported by: the VEGA Scientific Agency (Project No. 1/0164/19; I.B.S; M.S and Project No. 1/0533/21; M.S); the APVV grant agency of the Slovak Republic (Project No. APVV-16-0121 and APVV-20-0079; I.B.S; M.S); the UK grant of the Comenius University in Bratislava (Project No. UK/56/2019, UK/100/2020 and UK/75/2021; I.B.S); the institutional support RVO67985831 of the Institute of Geology of the Czech Academy of Sciences (SČ); the NSP (National Scholarship program of Slovak Republic for the Support of Mobility of University Researchers (ID 33758 to S.J.V); the Specific research project at the Faculty of Science at Masaryk University, Brno (MUNI/1263/2020; M.I). À.H. Luján also thanks the Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación and the Agencia Estatal de Investigación (Grant I+D+I PID2020-117289GB-I00 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033/), the Operational Programme Research, Development and Education – Project ‘Postdoc@MUNI’ (No. CZ.02.2.69/0.0/0.0/16_027/0008360), the Generalitat de Catalunya (CERCA Program and 2017 SGR 116) and the ‘Programa Postdoctoral Beatriu de Pinós de la Secretaria

1149 d'Universitats i Recerca del Departament d'Empresa i Coneixement de la Generalitat de
1150 Catalunya' (2019 BP 00154).

Formatted: English (United States)

1152 References

1153 Aguilar JP, Antoine PO, Crochet JY, López-Martínez N, Métais G, Michaux J,
1154 Welcomme JL. 2003. Les mammifères du Miocène inférieur de Beaulieu (Bouches- du-
1155 Rhône, France), comparaison avec Wintershof-West et le problème de la limite
1156 MN3/MN4. Coloquios De Paleontología 1: 1–24.

Formatted: French (France)

1158 Agustí J. 1981. Roedores miomorfos del Neógeno de Cataluña. PhD Thesis, Universitat
1159 de Barcelona.

1161 Bolliger T. 1992. Kleinsäugerstratigraphie in der miozänen Hörnlichüttung
1162 (Ostschweiz). PhD Thesis, Universität Zürich.

Formatted: Spanish (Spain)

1164 Bonilla-Salomón I, Čermák S, Luján ÀH, Horáček I, Ivanov M, Sabol M. 2021a. Early
1165 Miocene small mammals from MWQ1/2001 Turtle Joint (Mokrá-Quarry, South
1166 Moravia, Czech Republic): biostratigraphical and palaeoecological considerations.

1167 Bulletin of Geosciences 96(1): 99–122. <http://doi.org/10.3140/bull.geosci.1801>

Formatted: English (United States)

1169 Bonilla-Salomón I, Luján ÀH, Ivanov M, Sabol M. 2021b. *Aliveria mojmiri* sp. nov.
1170 among other flying and ground squirrels (Rodentia, Mammalia) from the early Miocene
1171 of Mokrá-Quarry sites (Moravia, Czech Republic), Historical Biology.

Formatted: No underline, Font color: Auto

1172 <http://doi.org/10.1080/08912963.2021.1992403>

Formatted: English (United States)

- 1174 Bowdich TE. 1821. *An Analysis of the Natural Classifications of Mammalia for the use*
1175 *of students and travelers*. J. Smith, Paris.

- de Bruijn H, Unay E, Yılmaz A, Saraç G. 2003. A rodent assemblage from the
Eocene/Oligocene boundary interval near Süngülü, Lesser Caucasus, Turkey. *Coloquios*
de Paleontología, Volumen Extra 1: 47–76.

- de Bruijn H, Ünay E, & Hordijk K. 2013. Chapter 26. A review of the Neogene
succession of the Muridae and Dipodidae from Anatolia, with special reference to taxa
known from Asia and/or Europe. In: Wang X, Flynn L, & Fortelius M (eds): Fossil
Mammals of Asia: Neogene Biostratigraphy and Chronology: 566–582. New York
Chichester, West Sussex: Columbia University Press.
<http://doi.org/10.7312/columbia/9780231150125.003.0026>

- 1185 Bulot C, & Ginsburg L. 1996. Précisions sur l'âge des gisements à mammifères
1186 miocènes de Saint-Vincent-de-Lamonojoie (Lot-et-Garonne) et de Navère (Gers).
1187 Bulletin du Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle, 4ème série—section C—Sciences de la
1188 Terre, Paléontologie, Géologie, Minéralogie, 18(4): 615–628.

- 1190 Bulot C, Antoine PO, Duranthon F. 2009. Rongeurs et lagomorphes du Miocène
1191 inférieur de Béon 2 (MN4, Montréal-du-Gers, SW France). Annales de Paleontologie
1192 95(4): 197–215. <http://doi.org/10.1016/j.annpal.2009.09.003>

- 1194 Cohen KM, Harper DAP, Gibbard PL, Fan J-X. The ICS International
1195 Chronostratigraphic Chart (v2020/03), www.stratigraphy.org, (2020).

1197 Crespo, VD. 2017. Los mamíferos del Mioceno Inferior de la Cuenca de Ribesalbes-
1198 Alcora (Castelló, España). PhD thesis, Universitat de València.

1199 Crusafont M, Villalta JF, Truyols J. 1955. El Burdigaliense continental de la cuenca del
1200 Vallés-Penedés. Memorias y Comunicacines del Instituto Geológico 12: 1–273.

1201 Daams R, & van der Meulen AJ. 1984. Paleoenvironment and paleoclimatic
1202 interpretation of micromammal faunal succession in the Upper Oligocene and Miocene
1203 of north-central Spain. *Paléobiologie Continentale* 14(2): 241–257.

1204 Dehm R. 1950. Die Nagetiere aus dem Mittel-Miocän (Burdigalium) von Wintershof-
1205 West bei Eichstätt in Bayern. *Neues Jahrbuch Für Geologie Und Paläontologie -*
1206 *Abhandlungen* 91: 321–428.

1207 Engesser B, & Mödden C. 1997. A new version of the Biozonation of the Lower
1208 Freshwater Molasse (Oligocene and Aagenian) of Switzerland and Savoy on the basis of
1209 fossil Mammals. In: Aguilar JP, Legendre S, Michaux J (eds): *Actes du Congrès*
1210 *Biochrom'97. – Memoires et Travaux de l'E.P.H.E., Institut de Montpellier*, 21: 475–
1211 499; Montpellier.

1212 Fejfar O. 1990. The Neogene VP sites of Czechoslovakia: A contribution to the Neogen
1213 Terrestrial Biostratigraphy of Europe Based on Rodents, 211–236. In Lindsay, E.H.,
1214 Fahlbusch, V. & Mein, P. (eds) *European Neogene Mammal Chronology*. Plenum
1215 Press, New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-2513-8_15

1216 Fejfar O, Dvorák Z, Kadlecová E. 2003. New record of Early Miocene (MN3a)
1217 mammals in the open brown coal pit Merkur, North Bohemia, Czech Republic. *Deinsea*
1218 10: 163–182.

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: French (France)

Deleted: -

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: French (France)

1220 Fischer [von Waldheim] G. 1817. Adversaria zoologica. *Mémoires de la Société*
1221 *impériale des naturalistes de Moscou* 5: 357–472.

1222 Freudenberg H. 1941. Die oberoligocänen Nager von Gaimersheim bei Ingolstadt und
1223 ihre Verwandten. *Palaeontographica* 92, A: 99–194.

Formatted: Spanish (Spain)

1224 Freudenthal M, Lacomba JI, Malagón MAM. 1992. Classification of European
1225 Oligocene cricetids. *Revista Española de Paleontología* 3: 49–57.

Formatted: Spanish (Spain)

Formatted: Spanish (Spain)

Formatted: Spanish (Spain)

1226 Gozhyk P, Semenenko V, Andreeva-Grigorovich A, Maslun N. 2015. The correlation of
1227 the Neogene of Central and Eastern Paratethys segments of Ukraine with the
1228 International Stratigraphic Chart based on planktonic microfossils. *Geologica*
1229 *Carpathica* 66(3): 235–244. <https://doi.org/10.1515/geoca-2015-0022>

Formatted: Spanish (Spain, Traditional Sort)

Deleted: -

Formatted: English (United States)

1230 Hilgen FJ, Lourens LJ, Van Dam JA. 2012. The Neogene period, 923–978. In Gradstein
1231 FM, Ogg JG, Schmitz M, Ogg G. (eds) *The Geologic Time Scale 2012*. Elsevier,
1232 Amsterdam. <http://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-59425-9.00029-9>

Formatted: English (United States)

1233 Hordijk K, Bosma A, de Bruijn H, van Dam JA, Geraedts C, van den Hoek Ostende
1234 LW, Reumer J, Wessels W. 2015. Biostratigraphical and palaeoecological implications
1235 of the small mammal assemblage from the late early Miocene of Montalvos2, Teruel
1236 Basin, Spain. *Palaeobiodiversity and Palaeoenvironments* 95(3): 321–346.
1237 <http://doi.org/10.1007/s12549-015-0203-2>

Formatted: English (United States)

1238 Hrubesch K. 1957. Zahnstudien an tertiären Rodentia als Beitrag zu deren
1239 Stammesgeschichte. *Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften Mathematisch -*
1240 *Naturwissenschaftliche Klasse Abhandlungen* 83: 1–101.

- 1242 Ivanov M. 2008. Early Miocene Amphibians (Caudata, Salientia) from the Mokrá-
1243 Western Quarry (Czech Republic) with comments on the evolution of Early Miocene
1244 amphibian assemblages in Central Europe. *Geobios* 41(4): 465–492.
1245 <http://doi.org/10.1016/j.geobios.2007.11.004>.
- 1246 Ivanov M, Musil R, Brzobohaty R. 2006. Terrestrial and Marine Faunas from the
1247 Miocene Deposits of the Mokrá Plateau (Drahany Upland, Czech Republic) - Impact on
1248 Palaeogeography. *Beiträge zur Paläontologie* 30: 223–239.
- 1249 Ivanov M, Ruta M, Klembara J, Böhme M. 2017. A new species of *Varanus*
1250 (Anguimorpha: Varanidae) from the early Miocene of the Czech Republic, and its
1251 relationships and palaeoecology. *Journal of Systematic Palaeontology* 16(9): 767–797.
1252 <http://doi.org/10.1080/14772019.2017.1355338>
- 1253 Ivanov M, Čerňanský A, Bonilla-Salomón I, Luján ÀH. 2020. Early Miocene squamate
1254 assemblage from the Mokrá-Western Quarry (Czech Republic) and its
1255 palaeobiogeographical and palaeoenvironmental implications. *Geodiversitas* 42(20):
1256 343–376. <http://doi.org/10.5252/geodiversitas2020v42a20>
- 1257 Jovells-Vaqué S. 2020. Early Miocene cricetids from the Vallès-Penedès Basin
1258 (Catalonia): taxonomy, biostratigraphy and paleoecological implications. Ph.D. thesis.
1259 Univeristat Autònoma de Barcelona.
- 1260 Jovells-Vaqué S & Casanovas-Vilar I. 2018. A review of the genus *Melissiodon*
1261 (Cricetidae, Rodentia) in the Vallès-Penedès Basin (Catalonia). *Journal of Vertebrate*
1262 *Paleontology* 38(5): e1520714. <http://doi.org/10.1080/02724634.2018.1520714>

Formatted: Spanish (Spain)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Spanish (Spain)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: S,

Formatted: English (United States)

1264 Jovells-Vaqué S. & Casanovas-Vilar I. 2021. Dispersal and early evolution of the first
 1265 modern cricetid rodents in Western Europe: new data from the Vallès-Penedès Basin
 1266 (Catalonia). *Comptes Rendus Palevol* 20(22): 401–439. [https://doi.org/10.5852/cr-](https://doi.org/10.5852/cr-palevol2021v20a22)
 1267 [palevol2021v20a22](https://doi.org/10.5852/cr-palevol2021v20a22).
 1268 Jovells-Vaqué S & Mörs T. 2022. The aberrant hamster *Melissiodon* (Cricetidae,
 1269 Rodentia) from the early Miocene of Echzell and other German and French localities.
 1270 *Historical Biology*. <https://doi.org/10.1080/08912963.2022.2067758>
 1271 Kalthoff DC. 2006. Incisor enamel microstructure and its implications to higher-level
 1272 systematics of Eurasian Oligocene and Early Miocene hamsters (Rodentia).
 1273 *Palaeontographica Abteilung A* 277(1): 67–80
 1274 Kováč M, Halášová E, Hudáčeková N, Holcová K, Hyžný M, Jamrich M, Ruman A.
 1275 2018. Towards better correlation of the Central Paratethys regional time scale with the
 1276 standard geological time scale of the Miocene Epoch. *Geologica Carpathica* 69(3): 283–
 1277 300. <http://doi.org/10.1515/geoca-2018-0017>.
 1278 Luján ÀH, Ivanov M, Fortuny J, Sabol M. 2017. Fossil turtle remains from the Early
 1279 Miocene (MN4) localities of Mokrá-Quarry (Czech Republic). 4th Young Natural
 1280 History scientists' Meeting, Paris. p. 87–87.
 1281 Luján ÀH, Čerňanský A, Bonilla-Salomón I, Březina J, Ivanov M. 2021. Fossil turtles
 1282 from the early Miocene localities of Mokrá-Quarry (Burdigalian, MN4), South
 1283 Moravian Region, Czech Republic. *Geodiversitas* 43(20): 691–707.
 1284 <https://doi.org/10.5252/geodiversitas2021v43a20>

Formatted: No underline, Font color: Auto, English (United States)

Deleted: .,

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: French (France)

Deleted:

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: French (France)

Deleted: ¶

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: No underline, Font color: Auto, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted:

Formatted: No underline, Font color: Auto

Formatted: Spanish (Spain, Traditional Sort)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Spanish (Spain, Traditional Sort)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

1289 Maridet O, & Ni X. 2013. A new cricetid rodent from the early Oligocene of Yunnan,
1290 China, and its evolutionary implications for early Eurasian cricetids. Journal of
1291 Vertebrate Paleontology 33(1): 185–194. <http://doi.org/10.1080/02724634.2012.710283>

1292 Matthew WD., & Granger W. 1923. Nine new rodents from the Oligocene of Mongolia.
1293 American Museum Novitates 102: 1–10.

1294 Mein P. 1989. Die Kleinsäugerfauna des Untermiozäns (Eggenburgien) von Maigen,
1295 Niederösterreich. Annalen den naturhistorischen in Wien 90(A): 49–58.

1296 Mein P, & Freudenthal M. 1981. Les Cricetidae (Mammalia, Rodentia) du Néogène
1297 Moyen de Vieux-Collonges. Scripta Gelogica, 60: 1–11.

1298 Mödden C. 1999. Family Melissiodontidae. In: Rossner GE and Heissig K (eds). The
1299 Miocene Land Mammals of Europe. Munich: Verlag Dr. Friedrich Pfeil, 343–346.

1300 Prieto J, Lu XY, Maridet O, Becker D, Pirkenseer C, Rauber G, & Peláez-Campomanes
1301 P. 2018. New data on the Miocene dormouse *Simplomys* García-Paredes, 2009 from the
1302 peri-alpin basins of Switzerland and Germany: Palaeodiversity of a rare genus in
1303 Central Europe. Palaeobiodiversity and Palaeoenvironments, 99(3): 527–543.
1304 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s12549-018-0339-y>

1305 Prieto J, Rummel M, Scholz H, & Mein P. 2022. A new middle Miocene lineage based
1306 on taxonomic revision of the large and rare cricetid-rodent genus *Lartetomys*.
1307 Palaeobiodiversity and Palaeoenvironments. 102(1): 223–236.
1308 <https://doi.org/10.1007/s12549-021-00485-0>

1309 Reichenbacher B, Krijgsman W, Lataster Y, Pippèrr M, Van Baak CGC, Chang L,
1310 Kälin D, Jost J, Doppler G, Jung D, Prieto J, Abdul Aziz H, Böhme M, Garnish J,

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: French (France)

Formatted: English (United States)

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

1313 Kirscher U. & Bachtadse V. 2013. A new magnetostratigraphic framework for the
1314 Lower Miocene (Burdigalian/Ottnangian, Karpatian) in the North Alpine Foreland
1315 Basin. Swiss Journal of Geosciences, 106(2): 309–334. [https://doi.org/10.1007/s00015-](https://doi.org/10.1007/s00015-013-0142-8)
1316 [013-0142-8](https://doi.org/10.1007/s00015-013-0142-8)

1317 Ruiz-Sánchez FJ, Murelaga X, Freudenthal M, Larrasoña JC, Furió M, Garcés M,
1318 González-Pardos M, & Suárez-Hernando O. 2013. Rodents and insectivores from the
1319 Lower Miocene (Agenian and Ramblian) of the Tudela Formation (Ebro Basin, Spain).
1320 Journal of Iberian Geology, 38(2): 1–24.
1321 https://doi.org/10.5209/rev_JIGE.2012.v38.n2.40463

1322 Sabol M, Fejfar O, Horacek I, Čermák S. 2007. The Early Miocene micromammalian
1323 assemblage from Mokrá – 1/2001 Turtle Joint site (Moravia, Czech Republic) -
1324 preliminary results. Scripta Facultatis Scientiarum Naturalium Universitatis Masarykianae
1325 Brunensis, Geology 36: 57–64.

1326 Schaub S. 1920. *Melissiodon* n. gen., ein bisher übersehener oligocäner Muride.
1327 Senckenbergiana 2: 43–47.

1328 Schaub S. 1925. Die Hamsterartigen Nagetiere des Tertiärs und ihre lebenden
1329 Verwandten. Abhandlungen der Schweizerischen Paläontologischen Gesellschaft 45: 1–
1330 110.

1331 Sesé C. 1987. *Eucricetodon* and *Melissiodon* (Cricetidae, Rodentia, Mammalia) from
1332 the Ramblian and Lower Aragonian of the Calamocha area (Calatayud Teruel Basin,
1333 Spain). Scripta Geologica 83: 1–17.

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: Font: Italic, English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

Steininger FF. 1999. Chronostratigraphy, Geochronology and Biochronology of the
Miocene “European Land Mammal Mega-Zones” (ELMMZ) and the Miocene
“Mammal-Zones (MN-Zones)”, 9–24. In Rössner GE & Heissig K. (eds) The Miocene
Land Mammals of Europe. Verlag Dr. Friedrich Pfeil, Munich.

Ünay-Bayraktar E. 1989. Rodents from the middle Oligocene of Turkish Thrace.
Utrecht Micropaleontological Bulletins, (Special Publication 5): 1–121.

van der Weerd A, & Daams R. 1978. Quantitative composition of rodent faunes in the
Spanish Neogene and paleoecological implications. Proceedings of the Koninklijke
Nederlandse Akademie van Wetenschappen B 81 (4): 448–473.

Werner J. 1994. Beiträge zur Biostratigraphie der Unteren SüßwasserMolasse
Süddeutschlands - Rodentia und Lagomorpha (Mammalia) aus den Fundstellen der
Ulmer Gegend. Stuttgarter Beiträge Zur Naturkunde, Serie B (200): 1–264.

Wessels W, Weerd AA, Bruijn H, & Marković Z. 2018. New Melissiodontinae
(Mammalia, Rodentia) from the Paleogene of south-east Serbia. Palaeobiodiversity and
Palaeoenvironments 98(3): 1–17. <http://doi.org/10.1007/s12549-017-0311-2>

Ziegler R, & Fahlbusch V. 1986. Kleinsäuger-Faunen aus der basalen Oberen
Süßwasser-Molasse Niederbayerns. Zitteliana 14: 3–58.

1351

Figure captions

Figure 1. Location of Mokrá-Quarry in Moravia, Czech Republic. A – Geographical
position of Mokrá-Quarry. B – Position of Mokrá Western and Central Quarries, as well

Formatted: English (United Kingdom)

Formatted: English (United States)

Formatted: English (United States)

as the location of MWQ 1/2001, MWQ 2/2003, MCQ 3/2005, MWQ 4/2018 sites.

Source: Mapy.cz (modified); © Seznam.cz, a.s., under license (CC-BY-SA 4.0).

Figure 2. Interpretative drawings and terminology of the upper and lower first molars

of *Melissiodon* aff. *schlosseri* from Mokrý-Quarry. A – M1 (Pal. 3380). B – m1 (Pal.

3373). **Abbreviations:** **Alpl**, anterolophule; **Alplc**, anterolophule cusp; **Alpld**,

anterolophulid; **Alpldc**, anterolophulid cuspid; **Ast**, anterostyle; **E Mtl**, Extra

Metalophule spur; **Ecl**, Ectolophid; **Enl**, Entoloph; **Etcd**, Entoconid; **Hc**, Hypocone;

Hpc, Hipoconule; **Hpcd**, Hypoconid; **La Ac**, Labial Anterocone; **La Atcd**, Labial

anteroconid; **Li Ac**, Lingual Anterocone; **Li Atcd**, Lingual anteroconid; **Li Postl**;

Lingual Posteroloph; **Msc**, Mesocone; **Mscd**, Mesoconid; **Msl**, Mesoloph; **Msl**,

Mesolophid; **Msst**, Mesostyle; **Mtc**, Metacone; **Mtcd**, Metaconid; **Mtl**, Metalophule;

Pac, Paracone; **Postl**, Posteroloph; **Postld**, Posterolophid; **Posts**, Posterosinus; **Postsd**,

Posterosinusid; **Prc**, Protocone; **Prl**, Protolophule; **Prs**, Protosinus; **Prst**, Protostyle;

Prtsnsd, Protosinusid; **Ptcd**, Protoconid; **Ptcd h arm**, Protoconid hind arm; **S**, Sinus;

Sd, Sinusid. Modified from Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar (2018). Scale bar equals

1 mm.

Deleted: *dominans*

Figure 3. Scanning electron micrographs of *Melissiodon* aff. *schlosseri* from MWQ

2/2003 and MCQ 3/2005 in occlusal view. A – fragment of left mandible with M1-M2

(Pal. 3381); B – fragment of right mandible with M1-M2 (Pal. 3382); C – fragment of

left mandible with M1 (Pal. 3490); D – fragment of right mandible with M1 (Pal. 3488);

E – left M1 (Pal. 3371); F – right M1 (Pal. 3380); G – fragment of right M1 (Pal. 3489);

H – left M1 (Pal. 3491); I – left M1 (Pal. 3492); J – left M1 (Pal. 3493); K – right M1

(Pal. 3931); L – right M2 (Pal. 3372); M – right M2 (Pal. 3383); N – right M2 (Pal.

3495); O – left M2 (Pal. 3496); P – left M3 (Pal. 3377); Q – left m1 (Pal. 3373); R –

Deleted: *dominans*

Deleted:

1382 right m1 (Pal. 3374); S – right m1 (Pal. 3494); T – fragment left m1 (Pal. 3903); U –
1383 left m2 (Pal. 3375); V – right m2 (Pal. 3497); W – right m2 (Pal. 3498); X – left m2
1384 (Pal. 3930); Y – fragment of right m3 (Pal. 3499); Z – right m3 (Pal. 3376); AA – right
1385 m3 (Pal. 3501); AB – left m3 (Pal. 3502). Scale bar represents 1 mm.

1386

1387 **Figure 4.** Scatterplot (length and width) size of the upper and lower molars of different
1388 *Melissiodon* taxa from various localities during the early Miocene. Measurements of
1389 *Melissiodon* taxa were obtained from the following publications: Hrubesch 1957; Mein
1390 & Freudenthal 1981; Ziegler & Falhbusch, 1986; Fejfar 1990; Werner 1994; Hordijk et
1391 al. 2015; Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar 2018.

1392

1393 **Figure 5.** Biochronologic distribution of *Melissiodon* remains across Europe during
1394 the early Miocene. Black squares represent localities in which *Melissiodon* remains
1395 have been found, while white squares denotes localities in which *Melissiodon* remains
1396 with a cuspid-like labial anteroconid have been found. In the Dolnice 1-3 and Ořechov,
1397 m1 with both cuspid-like and cristid-like labial anteroconid have been found. The
1398 positions of MN4 Czech localities are speculative, since no biostratigraphic data for all
1399 localities is available. Age and chronological position of the localities mentioned in the
1400 text is based on works of Bolliger (1992); Steininger (1999); Bulot & Ginsburg (1996);
1401 Aguilar et al. (2003); Bulot et al. (2009); Reichenbacher et al. (2013); Ruiz-Sánchez et
1402 al. (2013); Hordijk et al. (2015); Prieto et al. (2018, 2022); Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-
1403 Vilar (2021). *Melissiodon* data was obtained from the following works: Hrubesch 1957;
1404 Mein & Freudenthal 1981; Ziegler & Falhbusch, 1986; Werner 1994; Hordijk et al.
1405 2015; Jovells-Vaqué & Casanovas-Vilar 2018; and personal observations.

Deleted: and

Deleted: is

Formatted: French (France)

Deleted: D